EXPLORING NEW DYNAMICS IN GLOBAL ENVIRONMENTAL GOVERNANCE

Literature review

Background Report

Kathrin Ludwig and Marcel T.J. Kok

June 2018



Exploring new dynamics in global environmental governance - literature review

PBL publication number: 3253

Corresponding author

marcel.kok@pbl.nl

Authors

Kathrin Ludwig and Marcel Kok

Production coordination

PBL Publishers

This publication can be downloaded from: www.pbl.nl/en. Parts of this publication may be reproduced, providing the source is stated, in the form: Ludwig K. and M.T.J. Kok (2018), Exploring new dynamics in global environmental governance – literature review. PBL Netherlands Environmental Assessment Agency, The Hague.

PBL Netherlands Environmental Assessment Agency is the national institute for strategic policy analysis in the fields of the environment, nature and spatial planning. We contribute to improving the quality of political and administrative decision-making by conducting outlook studies, analyses and evaluations in which an integrated approach is considered paramount. Policy relevance is the prime concern in all of our studies. We conduct solicited and unsolicited research that is both independent and scientifically sound.

This background study is part of a larger research effort at PBL Netherlands Environmental Assessment Agency that focuses on new dynamics in global biodiversity governance where non-state actors play an increasingly important role and where the role of governments and international organisations is renegotiated. In addition to this literature review, a number of case studies were performed, analysing new and innovative approaches to global biodiversity governance and, together with academic partners, also more quantitative approaches were explored. For more information on the project, please contact <a href="market-ma

Contents

SUMMARY	4
INTRODUCTION	5
KEY CONCEPTS	7
Global governance	7
Governance modes	8
_	8
Conclusion	9
NEW APPROACHES TO GLOBAL ENVIRONMENTAL	
/ERNANCE	10
Polycentric governance	11
Governance by orchestrators	12
Trans-national network governance	13
	14
	14
	15
	16 17
	18
·	19
Summary	20
LINDEDSTANDING THE DEDEODMANCE OF INTERNATIONAL	
	23
_	23
·	24 25
•	25
	26
2 Continuity	2.0
DISCUSSION: IMPLICATIONS FOR GOVERNMENTS?	27
REFERENCES	30
	Global governance Governance modes Governance arrangements Conclusion NEW APPROACHES TO GLOBAL ENVIRONMENTAL VERNANCE Polycentric governance Governance by orchestrators Trans-national network governance Private environmental governance Participatory and collaborative governance Adaptive governance and social learning Meta-governance Informational governance and transparency Non-state, market-driven governance Deliberative governance and clumsy solutions Summary UNDERSTANDING THE PERFORMANCE OF INTERNATIONAL LABORATIVE INITIATIVES Building on co-benefits Disclosure and accountability Clumsiness and experimentation Upscaling potential Directionality DISCUSSION: IMPLICATIONS FOR GOVERNMENTS?

1 Summary

In the face of urgency of addressing global sustainability challenges and limited political will and capacity at national and international governmental levels to take effective action, new non-state actors have entered the international stage. New agents of change and new forms of transnational governance have emerged. Business and the civil society sector, but also local and regional governments and engaged citizens organise themselves in international collaborative initiatives. While in the 1990s, these actors were still considered as outsiders that had a role as lobbyist or observer, they progressively have taken a more active role in global environmental governance. Recent studies confirm the trend towards bottom-up governance, while also international agreements start to reflect this trend, as for example can be seen in the Paris Climate Agreement and the 2030 Agenda with the Sustainable Development Goals. Altogether, this has resulted in an international governance landscape in which new forms of transnational governance coexist next to traditional multilateral governmental policies and public-private partnerships in which power and steering capacity is dispersed between a plethora of public and private actors and initiatives. This landscape has been characterised as a 'distributed global governance landscape' or a 'polycentric' governance landscape.

The goal of this paper is to provide a better understanding of the new dynamics of global environmental governance. For this purpose, we explored various theoretical perspectives (see Table 2 for a summary). This review illustrates the vast amount of academic research that deals with bottom-up and non-state governance for sustainability. The literature review indeed points to the increased role of various non-state actors in global governance and provides a large variety of insights on the new dynamics of global governance.

Based on this literature review, we identified five key factors that may help to understand the workings and performance from new, non-state, transnational governance arrangements:

- building on co-benefits, non-state governance arrangements are essentially based on collaboration between various actors and build on co-benefits;
- disclosure and accountability, through disclosure, actors and institutions can be held accountable by stakeholders and this becomes a self-steering mechanism;
- clumsiness and experimentation, this expresses a readiness to fail with the aim to capture new forms of learning and experience to address a problem;
- *upscaling potential*, the enabling environment, mechanisms and strategies through which initiatives can expand their impact;
- directionality, this relates to a need to bring guidance and coherence in a polycentric governance domain with a plethora of (bottom-up) initiatives in view of public goals.

This study briefly addresses the question of what the role of governments and intergovernmental organisations can be in such a polycentric governance landscape, and how governments may enable the performance of non-state action. Many new governance arrangements operate in the shadow of hierarchical state action, which reflects that transnational and state-led governance are often tightly interconnected. The literature on transnational governance has traditionally focused mostly on non-state actors and less on the governmental response. But this is slowly changing now. Without delving much deeper, we suggest three elements that can be seen as enabling conditions for ICIs that governments can provide to support a pragmatic policy approach at the international level: creating convergence and providing vision, reframing, and orchestration.

2 Introduction

Trust in the capacity of the multilateral system and the effectiveness of intergovernmental environmental agreements to respond to the problems of global environmental change is dwindling. While the Paris Climate Agreement and the 2030 Development Agenda, including the Sustainable Development Goals, have been heralded as milestones for multilateralism, there is still a massive implementation gap between current socio-economic development pathways and ambitions and goals of these, as well as other environmental agreements. The United Nations Environment Programme (UNEP) concluded that despite some notable successes, the international community has made very uneven progress in improving the state of the environment by achieving the many environmental goals that they have put in place (United Nations Environment Programme, 2012).

Projections show that current policies and business-as-usual practices will not be enough to avoid threshold changes in the Earth system functioning with potentially detrimental consequences for human livelihoods. The lack of progress in resolving issues of climate change and biodiversity loss may be understandable given the nature of these problems, which are sometimes referred to as complex or wicked or super-wicked problems (Levin et al., 2012). Characteristics of global environmental problems that make them challenging to resolve by collective action include time lags between actions and effects, high stakes and uncertainties involved, the global public goods character, lack of information, distributional aspects and the costs of addressing the problem in question (Dellas et al., 2011; Levin et al., 2012; Underdal, 2010).

With respect to climate change, it has been argued that the complexity of the climate problem has frustrated international agreements and instead triggered the emergences of international collaborative initiatives (Andonova, Betsill and Bulkeley, 2009; Bulkeley and Jordan, 2012). In the face of urgency of addressing global sustainability challenges and limited political will and capacity at national and international levels to take effective action, new actors have entered the stage as agents of change and new forms of transnational governance have emerged. The business and civil society sectors as well as local and regional governments and engaged citizens are organising themselves in international collaborative initiatives.

Over the past 10 to 15 years, non-state actors have started to fill the implementation gap (the extent to which they have filled that gap is an empirical question still to be addressed), left by the slow pace of tedious and often fruitless intergovernmental negotiations. While in the 1990s, these actors were still considered as outsiders that had a role as lobbyists or observers, they progressively have taken a more active role in global environmental governance, both within and outside international environmental negotiations to become 'new agents of change'. Recent studies confirm the trend towards bottom-up governance (Jordan et al., 2015; Ostrom, 2010b), while also international agreements start to reflect this trend, as for example can be seen in the Paris Climate Agreement. Altogether, this has resulted in an international governance landscape in which new forms of transnational governance coexist next to traditional multilateral governmental policies and in which power and steering capacity is dispersed between a plethora of public and private actors and initiatives. This landscape has been characterised as a 'distributed global governance landscape' or a 'polycentric' governance landscape (Ostrom, 2010a, b). We take this situation of transnational and multilateral governance in our research as a given (see also Betsill et al., 2015).

The goal of this paper is to better understand the new dynamics of global environmental governance, in this context. For this purpose, the report explores various theoretical perspectives to identify key factors (actor-centred and steering mechanisms) that help to understand the workings and performance of new, non-state governance arrangements, and starts to explore implications for intergovernmental and multilateral policy-making. Research on 'bottom-up' governance has pointed out the benefits of this emerging new governance landscape, such as providing room for experimentation and more tailored solutions for the local context (Dobson, 2007).

Following the 'the energetic society' argument (Hajer, 2011), we argue that international collaborative initiatives hold transformative potential that is not yet sufficiently recognised by governments (Hajer et al., 2015). The climate regime and the Paris Climate Agreement under the UNFCCC may be a notable exception; however, also UNEP (2016; p. 24) argues in its Emissions Gap Report that it remains an open question how the international process can best recognise, support, and catalyse non-state actor actions. As non-state initiatives are often taken in 'the shadow of hierarchy' (Mayntz and Scharpf, 1995), governments need to be aware of this trend and may want to consider how they can best relate and better take advantage of the initiatives taken by new agents of change in solving global environmental problems. This may require a more flexible and pragmatic governmental approach for the short and medium term that will need to go beyond the traditional mode of hierarchical governance, and beyond the constructed distinctions between bottom-up and top-down, public and private, global and local.

While pleas for smart or smarter governance are widespread (Rayner, 2010), understanding is still limited of how these new international collaborative initiatives function and interact. And what their contribution is to global sustainability governance through the governance functions they perform, as well as how productive linkages between the multilateral system and transnational initiatives can be best built (Betsill et al., 2015; Jordan et al., 2015). To understand the dynamics of transnational governance arrangements better insight is needed in the actual efforts, innovations and initiatives that are currently taken by new agents of change operating at the fringes and outside multilateral processes (also see Kornet, 2016).

In this report, we explore these new dynamics in global environmental governance from a theoretical perspective. Based on a review of the literature on transnational governance, we identified possible factors that may help better understand the workings and performance of international collaborative initiatives. In parallel work we empirically explore these dynamics further through case studies, analysis of large n-databases and exploring the possible impacts of international collaborative initiatives. This report unfolds as follows. Chapter 3 introduces key concepts in global environmental governance. Chapter 4 reviews the literature on non-state global environmental governance and the various innovative aspects emphasised in the literature. Based on the literature review, Chapter 5 identifies a number of factors that may increase the understanding about the workings and performance of international collaborative initiatives. Chapter 6 explores the implications for intergovernmental policy-making.

This background study is part of a larger research effort at PBL that focuses on new dynamics in global biodiversity governance where non-state actors play an increasingly important role and the role of governments and international organisations is renegotiated. Next to this literature review, a number of case studies have been performed analysing innovative approaches to global biodiversity governance and also more quantitative approaches have been explored.

3 Key concepts

The number and type of actors that engage in governance efforts at the international level has increased over the past decades in the context of globalisation. This trend is reflected in three key concepts: global governance – describing the overall conditions for steering at the international level, modes of governance – referring to abstract, ideal typical forms of steering, usually by governments, and governance arrangements – referring to specific governance efforts that state and non-state actors engage in at various levels, either entirely private or public or mixed.

3.1 Global governance

Global governance is a widely used term which, since its proliferation in the 1970s, has triggered a plethora of definitions in the academic community and, over time, has come to mean different things across and within disciplines (Biermann and Pattberg, 2012; Overbeek et al., 2010). Both as an analytical concept and a political strategy, global governance can be understood as a response to changes in the international system through the process of globalisation and the end of the Cold War (Pattberg, 2006; Zacher, 1992).

Originally, governance refers to the exercise of power 'without government', thus steering in the absence of authority (Rosenau and Czempiel, 1992). Governance then only refers to modes of steering that take place in the absence of a state that can enforce laws and other rules. Based on this reasoning, most multilateral decision-making can be characterised as 'governance without government' because of the absence of a global authority that can enforce laws; some exceptions are the United Nations Security Council's limited authority to impose world order and peace, the European Union and to some degree, the World Health Organization and the World Trade Organization (Risse, 2004). Yet, such a narrow understanding of global governance raises the question of how the term then differs from 'international relations' or 'world politics' (Biermann and Pattberg, 2008).

Currently, most of the literature on global governance takes into account the increasing role of non-state actors in steering international policies (Dingwerth and Pattberg, 2006; Jagers and Stripple, 2003; Rosenau, 1999). In the light of the increased blurriness of the lines between public and private authority at national and international levels (Risse, 2013), global governance is thus more than the steering at the global level and includes steering at all levels of human organisation that has transnational effects. Rosenau's (1995) often cited definition takes such a broader perspective: 'global governance is conceived to include systems of rule at all levels of human activity—from the family to the international organisation—in which the pursuit of goals through the exercise of control has transnational repercussions.' The Commission on Global Governance (1995) defines global governance as 'the sum of the many ways individuals and institutions, public and private, manage their common affairs, a process through which conflicting or diverse interests may be accommodated and cooperative action may be taken'. Such broad definitions may lack analytical clarity, but they are useful to stress the multilevel and multi-actor character of world politics (Dingwerth and Pattberg, 2007).

For the purpose of this report, we rely on a broad definition of global governance which includes steering at all levels and from all types of actors that has transnational impacts, as defined by Rosenau (1995). While acknowledging the various levels of steering that Rosenau

mentions, this report focuses on the international level. We understand global governance both as a political strategy and as an analytical concept (Dingwerth and Pattberg, 2007) since we are aiming at developing a conceptual framework that can be used both analytically as well as to guide the development of strategies for action.

3.2 Governance modes

Conventionally, governance is considered to occur in three modes: governance through hierarchy, that is, through states and governmental agencies; governance through markets; and governance through networks. Governance through governments, thus, is one of several modes of governance (Cashore, 2002; Delmas and Young, 2009; Kjaer, 2004; Treib, Bähr, and Falkner, 2007). Additional governance modes that have been identified more recently are self-governance, informational governance and meta-governance (Derkx and Glasbergen, 2014; Mol, 2008). Various authors have made rather similar typologies (see Arnouts et al., 2012; Driessen et al., 2012 and Van der Steen et al., 2015)

There is a broader distinction between top-down governance, where rules are set by one group to rule over another, and bottom-up governance, where groups are self-steering. Shifts in modes of governance do not necessarily mean that one mode of governance is replaced with another (Driessen et al., 2012). Instead, a new mode of governance is added to existent governance modes. A study by Van Oorschot et al. (2014), for example, discusses such a new mode to target different types of businesses involved in sustainable supply chains, in which a market-governance approach was facilitated by, in this case, the Dutch Government, which effectively managed to reach frontrunner business. Subsequently, a discussion emerged whether this government approach needed to be complemented with more hierarchical, regulatory approaches by the government to also make laggards comply with new standards. At the city level, Broto and Bulkeley (2013) report from database findings that most climate-change-related urban experiments were initiated after the ratification of the Kyoto Protocol, suggesting that top-down governance can trigger bottomup efforts by increasing interest in and awareness about climate change. They also find that the public-private divide is increasingly blurred and that certain actors are strongly associated with particular governance modes and the emergence of partnerships between various actors. Similar findings are reported for other climate governance experiments (Hoffmann, 2011) and for transnational climate governance, in general (Bulkeley et al., 2014).

While differing modes of governance can co-exist within a specific policy domain, they do not necessarily always complement each other; there may also be a certain amount of tension between goals, specific policy and measures. For example, market governance of natural capital with a central role for business may be at odds with regulatory approaches related to nature conservation within the same area.

3.3 Governance arrangements

While global governance refers to steering activities that have transnational repercussions and may vary per policy domain, governance arrangements are smaller analytical units that describe various types of collaborative initiatives, such as public-private partnerships, certification schemes or multi-stakeholder partnerships. Within specific policy domains that are characterised by specific modes of governance, multiple governance arrangements can be identified.

Governance arrangements can be broadly defined in terms of the types of actors involved and the approach used to reach a certain goal (Commission on Global Governance, 1995; Héritier, 2002; Risse, 2004). In the context of non-state action for climate change, international collaborations by non-state actors are referred to as International Collaborative Initiatives (Roelfsema et al., 2018) which we would define as governance arrangements.

Several ways of further distinguishing and categorising governance arrangements have been proposed in the governance literature. For instance, by governance functions distinguishing enabling, provision, regulation and self-governing functions (Biermann, 2014). Keohane and Victor (2011) distinguish climate change governance in terms of forms of governance (multilateral, club, bilateral, expert), issues (adaptation, nuclear, trade, financial) and governance functions (scientific assessment, rule-making, financial assistance, capacity building). Abbott (2012) distinguishes governance arrangements based on types of actors involved and the dominant actor type (state-led, hybrid and private-led) and operational activities (standards and commitments, information and networking, financing and operational). Governance arrangements can also be distinguished along the dimensions of discourses, actors, resources and rules (Arts and Leroy, 2006). Hysing (2009) developed a framework distinguishing new governance modes with respect to instruments, relations and levels and the distribution of governmental power and societal autonomy.

The description shows a large variety of categorisations of governance arrangements. We also take into account three other nuances that often get lost in categorisations of governance arrangements. First, we do not consider international organisations and international agreements as non-hierarchical. Instead, we consider them to be based on hierarchical forms of steering; although less so coercive than the steering of nation states or the EU institutions. Second, hierarchical steering can also involve positive incentives such as subsidies which cannot be considered as command and control usually associated with classical top down hierarchy. Third, we conceptualise public and private authority and hierarchical/less hierarchical modes of steering as continuums in order to account for the increased blurriness both between steering styles and between public and private authority.

Public authority refers to the exercise of legitimate steering power through public actors such as national and local governments, international organisations and intergovernmental agreements. Private authority refers to the legitimate steering of private actors (Hall and Biersteker, 2002). Thus, all non-governmental actors at local, national and international levels that use their expertise and/or moral legitimacy to make rules or set standards to which other relevant actors in world politics defer, changing their behaviour in some important way (Green, 2013).

3.4 Conclusion

This chapter elaborates three highly related key concepts, which together can be used to analyse the multifaceted character of the current global governance landscape with a multiplicity of actors and modes of governance in place. While the emergence of the global environmental governance landscape is often framed in terms of top-down and bottom-up steering, only a fraction of all governance arrangements can be considered clearly bottom-up or top-down. Chapter 4 reviews the literature on non-state global environmental governance and how this can contribute to effective problem solving.

4 New approaches to Global Environmental Governance

Over the past decades, various bodies of literature have emerged that looked for alternative approaches to hierarchical, governmental steering in global environmental governance. Some of these strands of literature are broad in scope, others only focus on one type of governance arrangement. Some focus more on actors, others on particular steering elements or governance styles (see Table 2), but generally the perspective is bottom-up, with ample attention for the role of non-state actors.

In this review, without aiming to be comprehensive, we focus on the following strands of literature that, in some cases, are quite related:

- Polycentric governance (Ostrom, 2010a) builds on research in self-organisation and collective action and explores the added value of multiple centres of decision-making for effective problem solving in complex situations;
- Governance by orchestration focuses on the role of government and intergovernmental organisations as orchestrators by enlisting intermediary organisations to govern third parties through soft modes of influence (Abbott et al., 2014a);
- Network governance (Risse-Kappen, 1995; Provan and Kenis, 2008) focuses on the role of transnational networks in information-sharing, capacity building, collaboration, learning and scaling up of efforts;
- Private environmental governance (Cashore, 2002; Pattberg, 2005) focuses on the role of business as an actor in global environmental governance;
- Participatory and collaborative governance (Bulkeley and Mol, 2003) is found in the literature and focuses on both the process of collective decision-making and the merit of including stakeholders in public and private governance;
- Adaptive governance, social learning (Folke et al., 2005; Gupta et al., 2010; Underdal, 2010) and clumsy solutions (Thompson and Verweij, 2006) focus on the capacity of institutions to respond to political, economic or environmental changes and on pragmatic problem solving stressing the need to accept failures, willingness to take risks and experiments;
- *Meta-governance* is concerned with the management of plurality and aims to increase coherence in a fragmented governance context (Derkx and Glasbergen, 2014):
- *Informational governanc*e and parts of the literature on transparency (Mol, 2010; Toonen, 2013) focus on the role of information as a steering element to create sustainability impacts;
- *Non-state market-driven governance* (Cashore, 2002; Pattberg, 2005) focuses on the market mechanisms in global environmental governance,
- Deliberative governance (Bäckstrand, 2010; Dryzek, 2000; Hajer, 1995) originates from post-positivist public-policy literature with a focus on how meaning is created in the decision-making process.

Table 1 categorises these strands of literature with respect to whether they are more actororiented or more focused on specific steering mechanisms. While some categorisation helps to create an overview, admittingly these distinctions are not always that straightforward and overlaps exist.

Table 1: Categorisation of non-state governance literature

Focus on actors	Focus on steering mechanism	
Polycentric governance	Adaptive governance and social learning	
Orchestrators	Meta-governance	
Network governance	Informational governance and	
	transparency	
Private governance	Non-state market-driven governance	
Participatory and collaborative	Deliberative governance and clumsy	
governance	solutions	

Based on an exploratory literature scoping and additional expert interviews (see Annex I for the list of interviews), we selected the above-mentioned strands of literature and identified some key publications which we discuss further in this chapter. Most of these strands of literature focus on a limited number of governance arrangements which relate both to the actors and the steering styles involved.

The literature review described in the following sections focuses on the insights these different strands of literature may provide into new dynamics of global environmental governance. The discussion of each strand of literature focuses on the following: general characteristics, potential for addressing specific sustainability issues, and the role of governments and intergovernmental institutions within these theoretical perspectives.

4.1 Polycentric governance

Polycentric governance sets out from the idea that action can be taken by multiple actors at various scales that have a cumulative effect (Ostrom, 2010b). Polycentric governance refers to self-organised and not formally institutionalised cooperation, coordination and steering of multiple centres of decision-making (for definitions, see Ostrom (2010a)). Self-organised, decentralised initiatives are considered to respond more adequately to interactions between planetary boundaries in the face of institutional complexity (Galaz, Crona, Österblom, Olsson and Folke, 2012). Polycentric governance research has originally focused on metropolitan areas (Ostrom, 2010b; Ostrom, Tiebout and Warren, 1961)and small-scale common pool resources such as fisheries and irrigation systems (Poteete, Janssen and Ostrom, 2010). The term is, however, increasingly applied to a wide variety of issue areas (cf. Jordan et al., 2015).

Galaz et al. (2012) identify four features or functions of polycentric governance: information-sharing, coordination of activities, problem solving and internal conflict resolution. While information-sharing constitutes a low degree of polycentricity, the presence of conflict resolution mechanisms suggests a strong degree of polycentricity.

In contrast to one size fits all top down steering, polycentric, multi-scalar approaches are therefore considered to have greater capacity to address collective action problems through reputational sanctions and reciprocity and by building trust through increased formal and informal, bilateral and multilateral interactions among parties (Cole, 2015; Galaz et al., 2012). Smaller scale approaches have more particularised knowledge which provides greater

opportunity for learning. Finally, such approaches leave more room for experimentation and innovation (Cole, 2015; Galaz et al., 2012).

Despite these theoretical claims, the actual effectiveness of polycentric governance remains contested and is context dependent. While empirical findings from 47 case studies on citizen involvement in natural resource management in Northern America and Western Europe suggest that polycentric governance arrangements with many agencies and levels of governance achieve higher environmental outputs than more monocentric governance arrangements (Newig and Fritsch, 2009). Others argue that for climate governance, it may be too early to judge the effectiveness of emerging polycentric governance (Jordan et al., 2015).

From a polycentric perspective, for instance an international climate change agreement has limited potential to successfully address these multi-scalar challenges. If global environmental problems such as climate change are the result of individual and group decisions at multiple scales, governance efforts have to address these various contexts as well as the distributive effects of climate change governance (Galaz et al., 2012). From a polycentric perspective, governments and international institutions are therefore one of many actors within global governance that play an important role but are not always best suited to address complex problems (Ostrom, 2010a).

4.2 Governance by orchestrators

Orchestration is a widely used governance strategy in the environmental domain and considered a valuable tool to enhance coherence and order in a context of polycentricism or distributed governance. Governance by orchestration can be considered a specific type of polycentric governance in which government, intergovernmental or non-state actors take the role of orchestrators through intermediary organisations and soft modes of influence (Abbott, Genschel, Snidal and Zangl, 2014a). The assumption is that orchestration will encourage ambition and scaling up and enhance the effectiveness of governance efforts (Abbott, 2014; Abbott et al., 2014a). The orchestration literature focuses on orchestration as a strategy employed by international organisations, but non-state actors can also take the role of orchestrators (e.g. see Derkx and Glasbergen, 2014).

Abbott and Bernstein (2014) describe orchestration as a governance strategy 'in which one actor (the orchestrator) enlists one or more intermediary actors (the intermediaries) to govern a third actor or set of actors (the targets) in line with the orchestrator's goals' (p.3). An orchestrator does not have direct power of intermediary actors and depends on their voluntary collaboration. Therefore, successful orchestration depends on good leadership, persuasion and incentives (ibid). In contrast to both mandatory and voluntary regulation, orchestration is an indirect mode of governance which works through intermediaries (Abbott, Genschel, Snidal and Zangl, 2014b).

Orchestrators can make use of a number of tools (Abbott et al., 2014a): agenda setting, material and ideational support, review mechanisms, endorsement, convening and coordinating actors.

Agenda setting provides cognitive and normative guidance for intermediaries. It also helps to enlist intermediaries with similar goals, inform them about policy options, shape priorities and steer activities of intermediaries. An agenda adopted by a powerful orchestrator can increase its legitimacy and increase external support. Agenda setting can increase substantive coherence and coordination.

Material support can come in the form of financial resources or through various forms of organisational support such as administrative assistance or hosting. Material support is crucial for enlisting intermediaries and increasing effectiveness and influencing actions of intermediaries. Especially, in the context of monitoring and rule implementation, material support is a powerful orchestration tool. Ideational support can come in the form of information or normative and cognitive guidance. Ideational support is provided to intermediaries in enhancing the legitimacy and effectiveness of their activities and gain competitive advantages over other organisations in their field.

Review mechanisms can improve measures of progress, accountability and enhance learning. Yet, the establishment of effective review mechanisms will always demand a certain level of financial and technical support as well as active encouragement and incentives.

Endorsement is a form of ideational or material support that enhances the authority of an intermediary or target actor and can increase their wider support.

Finally, coordination is another important orchestrating tool. Coordination is also the goal of orchestration as it reduces rules and policy overlaps, gaps and conflicts and lowers transaction costs and increases effectiveness. Convening crucial actors is central to successful coordination. It can support the recruitment of new intermediaries and enables dialogue, learning and review. Convening has thus also an empowering function for intermediaries and target actors.

Orchestration is often practiced by governmental agencies such intergovernmental organisations, treaty bodies and supranational actors in order to influence private actors such as businesses or provide civil society and other non-state actors. Intermediaries are then often businesses associations, civil society organisations or public private partnerships. Orchestration is employed as a strategy when orchestrators do not have access to hierarchical steering authority (Abbott, 2014).

4.3 Transnational network governance

The emergence of transnational networks is seen as a result of the increasingly global scale of many environmental, social, political and economic challenges and ICT developments that connect larger audiences beyond national jurisdictions. Transnational networks involve 'regular interaction across national boundaries when at least one actor is a non-state agent or does not operate on behalf of a national government or intergovernmental organisation' (Risse-Kappen, 1995, p. 3). Andonova et al. (2009) identify information-sharing, capacity building and implementation and rule-setting as the main functions of networked governance.

Scholarship has extensively studied transnational networks (Keck and Sikkink, 1998; Lipschutz and Mayer, 1996; Newell, 2000; Risse-Kappen, 1995). For instance, Betsill and Bulkeley (2004) find in their case study on transnational city networks that motivations to invest and participate in a network were financial and political incentives next to knowledge-sharing and norm generation. The authors also find that access to technical and best practice information was not an incentive to participate in a network. In a study about a multi-country fisheries co-management project, Wilson, Ahmed, Siar, and Kanagaratnam (2006) found that partnerships between NGOs and the public sector at various levels of organisation formed cross-scale networks. Government and NGO participation and support were critical factors for the success of fisheries co-management. The authors also found that successful co-management programmes, tended to expand their activities and included broader sustainability issues, such as ecotourism (Wilson et al., 2006).

Networks that link multiple levels of organisation and knowledge systems require coordinators and facilitators (Berkes, 2009; Mahanty, 2002; Olsson, Folke, Galaz, Hahn and Schultz, 2007) (see also previous section on orchestrators). In the case of organic cotton production in western Africa, intermediate stakeholders (i.e. transnational and local environmental NGO networks) were instrumental in the construction, maintenance and transformation of the organic cotton network (Glin, Mol, Oosterveer and Vodouhê, 2012). Networks can help to scale up local efforts. For example, cities organised in networks, such as C40 and ICLEI, are scaling up their efforts from local to transnational levels. When adding up and scaling up efforts, networking and information-sharing schemes are highly important for actors to learn from each other, collaborate and benchmark their strengths and weaknesses. However, despite the added value of synergies between multiple actors, governmental and intergovernmental rules are needed to control for free-rider problems and leakages (Abbott, 2012).

4.4 Private environmental governance

Private governance (Cashore, 2002; Pattberg, 2005) focuses on the role of business as an actor in global environmental governance. Authority is exercised though global markets, rather than though hierarchical, regulatory systems, and granted though value chains, external audiences and consumer preferences. Private governance arrangements nowadays engage in rule-making, promotion and implementation of norms and standards, monitoring and verification, compliance and sanction mechanisms, and operate alongside public governance systems (Pattberg and Isailovic, 2015).

Private arrangements can be governed by business and/or NGOs or other civil society groups and by combinations of the two. Business arrangements can be considered a form of self-regulation, while NGOs try to govern business from the outside or sometimes opt for collaboration in partnerships, as can be seen in standards and certification of agro-commodities and forests. One can distinguish two forms of private authority: 'delegated' and 'entrepreneurial' private authority. In the former states have delegated a problem-solving authority to private actors, while in the latter private actors have created their own authority to govern without backing of governments. Entrepreneurial private authority is closely related to the energetic society idea (Hajer, 2011).

The emergence and proliferation of private governance raises questions about the effectiveness and legitimacy of global governance systems, which also needs to be seen in the context of lack of effectiveness of the multilateral system. On the effectiveness of private governance as a useful complement to public governance to reduce environmental impacts, various positions can be recognised in the literature. The increasing prominence of private actors then raises questions of about responsibility, democratic oversight, checks and balances and accountability that governments may have to take into account.

4.5 Participatory and collaborative governance

For participatory governance, stakeholders and their inclusion in the decision-making process are crucial. Participatory processes of decision-making that include a wider range of stakeholders and publics are increasingly seen as the norm and examples of good governance while non-participatory forms of policy-making are increasingly seen as illegitimate, ineffective and undemocratic (Bulkeley and Mol, 2003). The degree and form of participatory governance varies greatly. Fung (2006) distinguishes between three dimensions

of participation: who participates, how participants communicate with one another and how discussions are linked with policy or action. Participation, thus, varies on a continuum between stakeholder consultations without any voice in the actual decision-making process and the co-elaboration of policies by stakeholders.

Participatory governance can improve the effectiveness of governance initiatives by preventing implementation problems (Bulkeley and Mol, 2003). Participation is expected to bridge the gap between scientific knowledge and the experiences and values of other actors (Bulkeley and Mol, 2003). In doing so, it helps pave the way for scaling up activities. Further, participatory governance can initiate a learning process among participants which will enhance the quality of, and the support for, environmental governance (Bulkeley and Mol, 2003). In a meta-analysis of 47 case studies from North America and western Europe, Newig and Fritsch (2009) find that the preferences of participating stakeholders often determine environmental decision-making outcomes. Further, face-to-face communication seems to increase the environmental level of ambition in decision-making.

Scholarship in the sustainability sciences usually distinguishes between financial and non-financial motivations for actors to join multi-actor governance arrangements. Apart from this broad distinction a number of subcategories for motivation have been identified including moral concerns, anticipating new regulation or securing first-mover advantages by shaping it, the pursuit of direct financial rewards, indirect benefits such as reputation gains, and response to consumer demands (Jordan et al., 2015).

Based on a review of 137 cases of collaborative governance across a range of policy sectors, Ansell and Gash (2008) identify variables for successful collaboration. These variables include the prior history of conflict or cooperation, the incentives for stakeholders to participate, power and resources imbalances, leadership, and institutional design. The authors also identify factors that are important for the procedural dimension of collaborative governance such as face-to-face dialogue, trust building, and the development of commitment and shared understanding. Collaboration tends to grow stronger when the decision-making process focuses 'on "small wins" that deepen trust, commitment, and shared understanding' (Ansell and Gash, 2008).

4.6 Adaptive governance and social learning

Adaptive governance is based on a dynamic, ongoing, self-organised process of learning by doing to test and revise governance arrangements and stresses the value of multi stakeholder participation (Folke et al., 2005). Adaptive governance refers to networks of actors that draw on various knowledge systems and experiences in order to develop a common understanding and policies (Folke et al., 2005). Similar to polycentric governance, diversity in governance initiatives, it is argued, can strengthen adaptive capacity by increasing response options. In contrast to top-down governance, adaptive governance focuses not only on the institutional scale but also on spatial, temporal and ecological scales (Termeer, Dewulf and Van Lieshout, 2010).

Adaptive governance deals with changing circumstances and therefore requires the right links at the right time around the right issues. Bridging organisations and network leadership can help to link actors and knowledge effectively across levels (Olsson et al., 2007) and facilitate trust building (Folke et al., 2005). Similar to bridging organisations, boundary organisations (Cash, 2001; Guston, 2001) can respond to new challenges and link various levels of governance as well as resource and knowledge systems.

For scaling up, bridging organisations can facilitate learning and vertical and horizontal collaboration (Folke et al., 2005). Bridging organisations and leadership are also key to addressing conflicts, accessing needed resources, building a common vision and shared goals (Folke et al., 2005). Scheffer et al. (2003) argue that a clear and convincing vision, comprehensive stories and meaning, and good social links and trust with other actors can mobilise larger coalitions of the willing and start a process of learning and trust building for adaptive management.

Complex problems require adequate actions strategies, purposeful ways of observing complexity and enabling conditions for action strategies. Termeer et al. (2012) identify governance capacities that combine these three aspects of complex problems: (1) reflexivity, or the capacity to deal with multiple frames in society and policy; (2) resilience, or the capacity to flexibly adapt to frequently occurring and uncertain changes; (3) responsiveness, or the capacity to respond wisely to changing agendas and public demands; (4) revitalisation, or the capacity to unblock deadlocks and stagnations in policy processes; and (5) rescaling, or the capacity to address mismatches between the scale of a problem and the scale at which it is governed. According to Termeer et al., actors involved in governing complex problems need these capabilities. Governments can provide the enabling conditions for the development of these capacities. In focusing on both action strategies and enabling conditions, governance capacities link more centralised, state-led governance with bottom-up approaches.

Participatory approaches, social learning, and trust building seem to reinforce one another and eventually facilitate collaboration (Plummer and FitzGibbon, 2007). Learning processes, it is argued are crucial for collaboration, joint decision-making, and co-management (Folke et al., 2005). Participatory approaches are considered central for learning within groups because they allow for sharing individual learning (Sims and Sinclair, 2008). Social learning is considered to enhance the adaptive capacity of stakeholders through involvement in decision-making (Folke et al., 2005). Certain literature on organisational learning and communities of practice argues that institutions, organisations, or communities of practice may be capable of learning as social units, instead of as a group of individuals learning separately (Wals, 2007; Armitage et al., 2008; Reed et al., 2010). Social learning focuses on the dynamic learning processes in groups and emphasises learning by doing through iterative practice, evaluation and action modification. Social learning is facilitated through joint problem solving and reflection within learning networks (Berkes, 2009).

Experiments aim to capture new forms of learning and experience to address an environmental problem (Broto and Bulkeley, 2013). For urban responses to climate change, experimentation is a reoccurring feature across regions and sectors that does not seem to depend on specific types of economic or social conditions (Broto and Bulkeley, 2013, p. 93).

4.7 Meta-governance

Meta-governance describes a governance mode similar to governance by orchestration. Meta-governance is concerned with the management of plurality and aims to increase coherence in a fragmented governance context (Derkx and Glasbergen, 2014). It refers to an 'indirect form of governing that is exercised by influencing various processes of self-governance' with the aim of 'enhancing coordinated governance in a fragmented system based on a high degree of autonomy for a plurality of self-governing networks and institutions' (Jessop, 1998).

Meta-governance can be carried out by public and private actors. Private meta-governance may take different forms: self-organised arrangements by private actors or collaborations of public (UN) and private actors can play the role of a meta-governor, e.g. the Global Reporting Initiative for company sustainability reporting (Brown, De Jong and Levy, 2009), ISEAL for standard setting. Meta-governance efforts in voluntary sustainability initiatives emerged out of the collaboration of a number of front running schemes and the organisations backing them in the attempt to address the challenges they are facing with private standard setting and produce greater coherence between schemes (Brown, De Jong and Levy, 2009).

Meta-governance in standard setting is a reaction to the challenges associated with the current global standard setting landscape. Global voluntary standards can lead to unnecessary duplication, undermine stringency, confuse consumers and challenge the legitimacy and credibility of standards (Glasbergen, 2013). In responses to the challenges of such a fragmented governance landscape, meta-governance holds potential for creating more coherence in the governance of an issue area (Derkx and Glasbergen, 2014). In the context of private meta-governance for fair labour conditions, institutional design features are important for success and conflicting aims can stifle its effectiveness (Derkx and Glasbergen, 2014).

Further, constituencies and regulatory approach of the actors and organisations that set up the governance arrangement should not differ too much. Practical difficulties to schedule meetings and geographical distances can also work against successful meta-governance. Meta-governance arrangements appear to be particularly successful if they are run by highly skilled personnel with vast expertise in the field and if they have secretariats which enable them to function as autonomous organisations. Broad meta-governance initiatives such as ISEAL may also benefit from the fact that they bring together very different types of organisations that do not always compete with one another. This enables ISEAL to take more autonomous actions without triggering political negotiations between competitors (Derkx and Glasbergen, 2014).

For meta-governance initiatives in private standard setting, meta-governance standards were rather stringent in the cases studied by Derkx and Glasbergen (2014). Meta-governance focuses often on improving vested standards rather than on highlighting the insufficiencies of less successful schemes and anti-competitive practices. Meta-governance initiatives also have an important trust- and relationship-building function that becomes especially important in fields of high governance fragmentation.

The success of a meta-governance initiative also depends on whether participants perceive that they win rather than lose by more coherence in their field (Derkx and Glasbergen 2014). As long as fragmentation fulfils a function with different initiatives working on different aspects in a field, the costs for initiatives may be higher than the gains. Meta-governance then only becomes necessary when fragmentation becomes a problem (Derkx and Glasbergen 2014).

Meta-governance in private standard setting is often supported by governments and intergovernmental agencies. Their involvement seems to contribute to the effectiveness of these initiatives. Meta-governance can help scale up sustainability efforts in a field by, for instance, increasing the number of certified operators (Derkx and Glasbergen, 2014).

4.8 Informational governance and transparency

The production, use, flow, control and access to information plays a central role in environmental governance. (Mol, 2010) argues that the increased role of transparency and

information is the result of larger societal transformations such as globalisation, new modes of governance and uncertainties.

Proponents of informational governance hold that information-based modes of governance are at least partially replacing regulatory-based forms (Mol, 2006). Mol (2008, pp. 80–81) defines informational governance as the 'institutions and practices of —in our case, environmental— governance that are to a significant extent structured and 'ruled' by information, informational processes, informational technologies and struggles around access to, control over, and production and use of environmental information'.

Various activities can be subsumed under the label of informational governance: certification schemes, company reporting systems, verification and auditing systems, monitoring and disclosure, online dissemination of information by civil society, and the availability of up-to-date online information to citizens. Many of these activities can also be carried out by governments or intergovernmental bodies.

The transparency literature focuses on two policy goals (Mitchell, 2011): the 'transparency of governance' literature concentrates on policies and institutions that are aimed at providing information and oversight over the actions of public or private actors in society (Auld and Gulbrandsen, 2010; Dingwerth and Eichinger, 2010; Florini, 2010; and Heald, 2006). The 'transparency for governance' literature focuses on policies and institutions that use transparency as a means to enhance the environmental performance of actors within society (Fung et al., 2007; Hamilton, 2005; Heald, 2006; and Stephan, 2002). Reputation mechanisms can facilitate a change in behaviour through naming and shaming (Héritier, 2002). The assumption is that naming underperformers will shame them into doing better. Benchmarking is such a reputation mechanism and has been predominantly applied to organisations or companies. Benchmarking refers to comparing the performances of organisations with respect to a specific target. Target definition and benchmarking can be initiated by the organisation itself (non-hierarchical) or imposed by governments or an association the organisation is part of (hierarchical) (De la Porte, Pochet, and Room, 2001). Benchmarking aims at finding 'best practices, organizsational learning and continuous improvement' (De la Porte et al., 2001, p. 2).

Organisations have an interest in applying the proposed instruments because of social control through others and the competitive dimension of benchmarking. Best practices are likely to contribute to problem-solving. In this sense, benchmarking can induce a race to the top in which actors aim to reach the set targets before others. Finally, disseminating and exchanging information about various practices is hoped to contribute to social learning.

4.9 Non-state, market-driven governance

The emergence of market-driven governance reflects a world in which states are no longer the exclusive source of global regulatory authority, but in which authority is dispersed across various settings. It fits in liberal environmentalism (Bernstein, 2015), not as an ideology of neoliberalism, but as norms and practices institutionalised in practice. It is also closely related to governance through markets, as a mode of governance and informational governance. It includes retailers, producers, business associations, insurance companies, accounting and reporting firms, certifiers and standard setters as well as civil society groups that create pressure from outside.

Often, market-driven governance takes the form of transnational partnerships. The inclusion of a broad range of actors can increase effectiveness in policy formulation (Schäfferhoff et

al., 2009). Including stakeholders brings in the 'necessary technical, regional, social, and political information' into the policymaking process and enhance the problem-solving capacity of governance (Brinkerhoff, 2002). Further, including norm targets in the policymaking process contributes to compliance by creating ownership of the process outcomes (Schäfferhoff et al., 2009; Bernstein, 2005). The network structure of transnational partnerships opens up space for deliberation and communication which can lead to a reasoned consensus rather than on compromise that is based on negotiations and bargaining (Risse, 2000:15; Schäfferhoff et al., 2009).

The emergence and proliferation of private governance raises questions about the effectiveness and legitimacy of global governance systems, which also needs to be seen in the context of lack of effectiveness of the multilateral system. On the effectiveness of private governance as a useful complement to public governance to reduce environmental impacts, various positions can be recognised in the literature. The increasing prominence of private actors then raises questions of about responsibility, democratic oversight, checks and balances and accountability that governments may have to take into account.

4.10 Deliberative governance and clumsy solutions

While participatory and collaborative governance focus on actors and their cooperation, deliberative governance emphasises language and argumentation. Deliberative governance is defined as a non-hierarchical means of steering that is based on argumentation and persuasion in order to 'achieve a reasoned consensus rather than a bargaining compromise' (Risse, 2004). It is assumed that reasoned argument without manipulation or exercise of power will yield better and more legitimate decisions (Bäckstrand, 2010). Deliberative decisions are legitimate because they are based on what Habermas (1984) calls 'rationally motivated consensus' in which individuals endorse a decision because of reasons that everyone can accept (Dryzek, 2000). 'Arguing' processes are considered to foster more effective regulation, because they emerge from a reasoned consensus rather than a bargained compromise (Habermas, 1992; Risse, 2000).

Deliberative governance can enhance trust through 'interactive', 'consensus building' and 'roundtable' initiatives (Hajer and Wagenaar, 2003). The spaces in which deliberations take place are often the first instances where stakeholders meet each other personally. Active participation in collective action and problem solving generates trust among stakeholders (Forester, 1999; Lave and Wenger, 1991; Sabel, Fung and Karkkainen, 2000). Deliberative capacity denotes the extent to which governance arrangements allow for deliberation that is inclusive, authentic, and consequential (Dryzek, 2009). Inclusiveness refers to the variety of interests and perspectives that are present in the decision-making process and in the policy outcome. With respect to interests, inclusiveness is therefore linked to the intensity of stakeholder participation. Authenticity refers to the non-manipulative, non-coercive character of a decision-making process. Consequentiality is the direct or indirect impact deliberation has on the decision-making outcome.

Thompson and Verweij (2006) discuss several case studies on clumsy solutions which emphasise the importance of deliberative processes. The idea of clumsy solutions was coined by Shapiro (1987). Clumsy solutions are responses that reject the idea that in a situation with contradictory problem definitions and responses, one of these has to be chosen while rejecting the other. Verweij et al. (2006a) argue that clumsy institutions are institutions which harness contestation between individualistic, egalitarian, hierarchical and fatalist lines of argumentation. These perspectives are based on various assumptions with respect to the adequate distribution of responsibilities, risks, costs and benefits. Essentially, clumsiness

refers to a more pragmatic approach which accepts the existence of contradictory problem perception and solving and tries to make the best of it by focusing on the synergies while simultaneously taking into account the differences. Verweij et al. (2006a) conclude that the appropriate institutional arrangements that can foster clumsy solutions are highly context dependent.

In the case of climate change, Verweij et al. (2006b) argue that the Kyoto Protocol was never equipped to produce the emission cuts necessary to contain dangerous climate change. He proposes to focus on the development on new, climate smart technologies. International cooperation would be mostly concerned with stimulating technological development and less with formal and complicated consensus searching. A clumsy approach would make use of differing policy styles, mixing market dynamics with governmental and local action. This allows for flexibility and strategy switching in contrast to the monolithic Kyoto Protocol. Linnerooth-Bayer, Vari and Thompson (2006) describe another clumsy solution for which a policy or decision is endorsed by various stakeholder groups but for different reasons. In Hungary, a clumsy policy option was formulated after several rounds of stakeholder consultations regarding flood insurance and compensation. The characteristics of the proposed clumsy solution were that it was not based on a single rationale or set of values and they created win-win elements.

4.11 Summary

This review illustrates the vast amount of academic research that dealing with bottom-up and non-state governance efforts for sustainability (see Table 2 for a summary). The literature review also points to the increased role of various non-state actors in global governance including businesses, civil society organisations, cities and local governments and citizens.

The role of facilitators, bridging organisations, meta-governors and orchestrators is repeatedly emphasised throughout various perspectives for successful cooperation, knowledge co-production, trust building and learning. Following the logic of the bottom-up argument, many perspectives see added value in collaboration between different types of actors.

Further, trust-building as well as situations that generate co-benefits (win-win outcomes) are essential stepping stones to enable collaboration and eventually scaling up. Yet, several perspectives also stress the context dependent character of many bottom-up initiatives which makes identifying factors that enhance effectiveness difficult.

Overall, the literature discussed in this chapter suggests that multi-actor approaches hold great potential to address collective action problems by building trust and relying on reputational sanctions and reciprocity. They leave more room for experimentation and innovation. Smaller scale approaches are likely to have more particularised knowledge and a greater opportunity for learning.

Table 2: Summary of different strands of literature included in review

	General characteristics	Potential	Role of governments and intergovernmental institutions
Focus on actors			
Polycentric governance	Multiple centres of decision-making at various scales. Self-organised, decentralised initiatives.	Considered to respond more adequately to problems in the face of institutional complexity	One of many actors within global governance that play an important role, but are not always best suited to address complex problems
Orchestrators	(Inter)governmental or non-state actors take role of orchestrators through intermediary organisations and soft modes of influence	Assumption is that orchestration will encourage ambition and scaling up to enhance the effectiveness of governance efforts	In absence of hierarchical steering authority, intermediary organisations are created
Transnational network governance	Transnational networks regular interaction across national boundaries when at least one actor is a non-state agent or does not operate on behalf of a national government or intergovernmental organisation	Main functions of networked governance include information-sharing, capacity building and implementation and rule-setting	Governmental and intergovernmental rules are needed to control for free-riders and leakages
Private governance	Rule-making, promotion and implementation of norms, monitoring and verification, and in compliance and sanction mechanisms by private actors	Complement to public governance to reduce environmental impacts in an efficient manner	Increasing prominence of private actors then raises questions of about legitimacy and asks for democratic oversight, checks and balances and accountability
Participatory and collaborative governance	Participatory processes of decision-making that include a wide range of stakeholders and publics collaboration amongst a broad	Improve effectiveness of governance initiatives by preventing implementation problems and	Increasingly seen as the norm and example of good governance, while non-participatory forms of policymaking are

	range of actors in transnational networks	enhance quality of, and support for, environmental governance	considered illegitimate and ineffective
Focus on steering mechanism			
Adaptive governance and social learning	Adaptive governance refers to networks of actors that draw on various knowledge systems and experiences in order to develop a common understanding and policies	Dynamic, diverse ongoing, self-organised process of learning by doing to test and revise governance arrangements and stresses the value of multi stakeholder participation	In contrast to top- down governance, adaptive governance focuses not only on the institutional scale, but also on spatial, temporal, ecological and scales
Meta-governance	Indirect form of governing exercised by influencing various processes of self-governance	Enhancing coordinated governance in a fragmented system with a plurality of self-governing networks and institutions	Governments can support intermediary organisations
Informational governance and transparency	Information, informational processes, informational technologies and struggles around access to, control over, and production and use of information	'Transparency OF governance': providing information and oversight over actions of actors 'Transparency FOR governance': means to enhance performance of actors	Reputation mechanisms, such as benchmarking, can facilitate a change in behaviour through naming and shaming
Non-state, market- driven governance	Market mechanisms	Complement to public governance to reduce environmental impacts in an efficient manner	Governments to ensure the realisation of public goods through markets.
Deliberative governance and clumsy solutions	Non-hierarchical means of steering based on argumentation and persuasion to achieve a reasoned consensus rather than a bargaining compromise	Reasoned argument without manipulation or exercise of power will yield better and more legitimate decisions	Clumsiness refers to existence of contradictory problem perception and solving and emphasises need for experimentation and deliberation.

5 Understanding the performance of International Collaborative Initiatives

Building on the literature review in the previous chapter, we suggest five factors that may help understanding the workings and performance of international governance arrangements:

- building on co-benefits, non-state governance arrangements are essentially based on collaboration between different actors and build on co-benefits;
- disclosure and accountability, through disclosure, actors and institutions can be held accountable by stakeholders and becomes a self-steering mechanism;
- clumsiness and experimentation, this expresses a readiness to fail with the aim to capture new forms of learning and experience to address a problem;
- *upscaling potential*, the enabling environment and strategies through which initiatives can expand their impact;
- directionality, this relates to a need to bring guidance and coherence in a polycentric governance domain with a plethora of (bottom—up) initiatives in view of public goals.

5.1 Building on co-benefits

Co-benefits are crucial, especially in the beginning stages of setting up and developing governance arrangements. They are the basis of any form of collaboration and non-state governance arrangements are essentially based on collaboration between actors. To enable collaboration, especially if costs are involved, all participating actors will need to see opportunities in collaboration to realise own interests. Collaboration is costly not only in terms of time and personnel, but also bears risks for the collaborating actors. For instance, the activities of one actor may lose importance in the process of collaboration.

Co-benefits can be built in various ways. They can be reached when the varying goals of actors can be fulfilled through a common means. This means that actor groups may join a governance arrangement for various reasons (Linnerooth-Bayer et al., 2006). Linnerooth-Bayer et al. (2006) describe how several rounds of actor consultations in Hungary regarding flood insurance and compensation led actors to find agreement on a policy that entailed winwin elements for various actor groups. Other examples of such win-win constellations are governance arrangements that address both environmental and social concerns or initiatives in the forestry sector including PES or REDD that both mitigate climate change and

biodiversity loss. By searching for such win-win elements across topics, synergies are created making governance more efficient with respect to investing time and resources. Co-benefits can also occur when actors are all confronted with the same problems and, therefore, see a collective need for action, as for instance Lach et al. (2006) describe in the case of accumulating problems around water in California. If the long-term survival of all actors is at stake, actors are more willing to move away from their original positions. Concessions to each position were just big enough to be labelled as progress and concessions were fairly equal to those of other stakeholders. Further, actors' experience with collaboration facilitates finding compromises and dispensing original policy positions. Additionally, in the face of loss, actors may collaborate and reach a compromise when they conclude that their own position could not be realised (Lach et al. (2006). Across a range of policy sectors, successful collaboration depends on the prior history of conflict or cooperation, the incentives for stakeholders to participate, power and resources imbalances, leadership, and institutional design (Ansell and Gash, 2008). Successful collaboration is also facilitated by face-to-face dialogue, trust building, and the development of commitment and shared understanding. Collaboration tends to grow stronger when the decision-making process focuses 'on "small wins" that deepen trust, commitment, and shared understanding' (Ansell and Gash, 2008).

Networks or collaborative initiatives are successful in governing complex problems if they build on partnerships and participation. For instance, Wilson et al. (2006) found that for fisheries co-management, multi-stakeholder participation and support as well as an expansion of activities to broader sustainability issues were critical factors for success. Participatory processes make decision-making more legitimate, democratic and effective because multi-stakeholder participation can initiate a learning process which enhances the quality of, and the support for, environmental governance (Bulkeley and Mol, 2003). Participation can further improve the effectiveness of a governance arrangement by preventing implementation problems (Bulkeley and Mol, 2003).

The participation of various stakeholders in collaborative initiatives can also help to scale up local efforts and help reach larger impacts, for instance by bridging the gap between scientific knowledge and the experiences and values of other actors (Bulkeley and Mol, 2003). Networks that operate across scales, linking multiple levels of organisation and knowledge systems require coordinators and facilitators.

5.2 Disclosure and accountability

Disclosure and accountability are key to a broad range of activities that form part of a non-state actions: certification schemes, company reporting systems, verification and auditing systems, monitoring and disclosure, online dissemination of information by civil society, and the availability of up-to-date online information to citizens (Mol, 2010). Transparency and disclosure is increasingly becoming a new norm which forces especially businesses, but also NGOs and public agencies to reveal their respective supply chain management and investment practices (Van Oorschot et al., 2018). Through disclosure, actors and institutions can be held accountable by stakeholders. This way, disclosure becomes a self-steering mechanism that nudges actors guided by reputational concerns to adopt more sustainable practices.

Reputation mechanisms can facilitate a change in behaviour through naming and shaming (Héritier, 2002). The assumption is that naming underperformers will shame them into doing better because they can be held accountable. Benchmarking is such a reputation mechanism and has been predominantly applied to organisations or companies. Benchmarking refers to comparing the performances of various organisations or businesses with respect to a specific

target. Target definition and benchmarking can be initiated by the organisation or business itself (non-hierarchical) or imposed from governments or an association the organisation is part of (hierarchical) (De la Porte et al., 2001). Organisations have an interest in applying the proposed instruments because of social control through others and the competitive dimension of benchmarking. In this sense, benchmarking can induce a race to the top in which actors aim to reach the set targets before others. Finally, disseminating and exchanging information about various practices may contribute to social learning.

5.3 Clumsiness and experimentation

Clumsiness accepts the existence of contradictory problem perceptions and solving and tries to make the best of it by focusing on the synergies while simultaneously taking into account the differences in problem perception. Experimentation is a form of clumsiness that especially stresses the need to accept failures, both as a necessary risk in search of an adequate solution and as an opportunity to learn.

Since appropriate institutional arrangements for clumsy solutions are highly context dependent (Verweij et al., 2006a), the following examples of clumsy solutions can be understood as guiding examples, but not as blueprints. While these guiding examples are mostly from the subnational context, they also harness value in an international context. In a setting of diverse interests and values among stakeholders, clumsy solutions can also be achieved by creating co-benefits. Various stakeholder groups can then endorse a policy option but for different reasons.

In the case of climate change, (Verweij et al., 2006b) argue that the Kyoto Protocol was never equipped to produce the emission cuts necessary to contain dangerous climate change. International cooperation would be mostly concerned with stimulating technological development and less with formal and complicated consensus searching. A clumsy approach would make use of differing policy styles, mixing market dynamics with governmental and local action. This allows for flexibility and switching strategies, in contrast to the monolithic Kyoto Protocol.

Experimentation is an element of clumsiness as it usually involves taking risks (Verweij et al., 2006a). Experiments are based on a readiness to fail. They aim to capture new forms of learning and experience to address an environmental problem (Broto and Bulkeley, 2013). For urban responses to climate change, experimentation is a reoccurring feature across regions and sectors that does not seem to depend on specific types of economic or social conditions (Broto and Bulkeley, 2013, p. 93). Clumsy solutions can also depend on the willingness of leaders to take risks and engage in experiments, as in the case of water management in California (Lach et al., 2006). Clumsy leadership is not determined primarily by strategic positions or access to resources, but willingness to take the risk of potentially antagonising constituents.

5.4 Up-scaling potential

Up-scaling potential can be understood as the enabling environment in which initiatives can expand their impact (Uvin, 2000). It is an efficient and cost-effective way to increase impact and enhance effectiveness (Hartmann and Linn, 2008).

Although scaling up is a broad concept (Franzel et al., 2001), four general types of scaling up can be identified. Governance initiatives can scale up their impact by expanding their coverage and size (quantitative scaling up); taking on new activities (functional scaling up);

influencing other organisations (indirect scaling up); and assuring their own organisational sustainability (organisational scaling up).

Governance initiatives practice quantitative scaling-up when they expand their coverage and size by becoming a larger organisation, managing more funds, hiring more staff, covering more beneficiaries and by covering a larger geographical area. Initiatives realise functional scaling up activities by raising the number and diversity of the activities (horizontal integration) or by adding upstream or downstream activities that complement the original programme with the aim of increasing impact (vertical integration). Indirect scaling up refers to the influencing of other governmental and non-governmental organisations and companies through advocacy and knowledge-sharing with the purpose of shaping their behaviour in a way beneficial to the goals of the initiative. Finally, organisational scaling up refers to measures taken that ensure the institutional robustness and longevity of an initiative. Related to indirect scaling, scaling-up potential is also based on an initiative's ability to replicate its activities (Jowett and Dyer, 2012). Replication is defined as 'the process of moving a tested prototype programme to additional sites in keeping with the hard (invariable) and soft (variable) aspects of that particular programme's components while remaining sensitive to the local context of each additional site' (RPS, 1994, p. 1). Replication can be achieved through franchising (transferring an initiative programme guidelines to another organisation based on a contractual agreement to adhere to certain performance standards and maintain the initiative's integrity), staged replication (an initiative retains ownership, with the assistance of independent agents with an initiative usually passing through three stages), concept replication (a flexible form of replication, in which only the most necessary aspects of the original initiative are replicated at new sites) (Jowett and Dyer, 2012).

5.5 Directionality

Directionality can be provided in various ways in a polycentric governance context: via goal setting and vision building, meta-governance and via orchestration. Orchestrators and meta-governors can be bridging organisations within governance networks, such as the ISEAL Alliance, or (inter)governmental agencies. Orchestration is a widely used governance strategy in the environmental domain and considered a valuable tool to enhance coherence and order in a context of polycentricism (Abbott et al., 2014a). In contrast to both mandatory and voluntary regulation, orchestration is an indirect mode of governance which works through intermediaries (Abbott et al., 2014b). Leadership, agenda setting and review are key features of orchestration (Abbott and Bernstein, 2014) which renders orchestration a highly relevant governance mode for providing directionality. Directionality can thus be provided by public and private non-state actors including governmental agencies, business associations, NGOs or think tanks. For instance, the city network C40 functions as an orchestrator by providing leadership and guidance to major cities around the world, with respect to climate change mitigation and adaptation.

6 Discussion: implications for governments?

Having analysed various strands of literature on non-state action and identified a number of key factors we hypothesise are necessary to understand the workings of non-state governance, the question can also be raised what the role of governments and intergovernmental organisations is in such a polycentric governance landscape and how can they enable the performance of non-state action. Many governance arrangements operate in the shadow of hierarchical state action, which reflects that transnational and state-led governance are often tightly interconnected. Governments will always play an important role in sustainability governance. Even with a more decentralised approach, it is argued, climate negotiations will require close international coordination (Green et al., 2011).

At the national level, especially in developed countries, the role of governments in a decentralised context is both to enable and to regulate the energetic society if we are to be able to deal with the sustainability challenges ahead of us (Hajer, 2011). But what is the role of governmental actors in an international anarchic context in the absence of any higher governmental power? The literature on transnational governance has traditionally focused mostly on non-state actors and less on governments. But this is slowly changing now. An important role of governmental actors is, for instance, creating complementarity and synergies between environmental policies and its implementation at local, national, regional and global levels (AIV, 2013).

Without delving much deeper, we suggest three elements that can be seen as enabling conditions for ICIs that governments can provide to support a pragmatic policy approach at the international level: creating convergence and providing vision, reframing, and orchestration.

Creating convergence and providing vision. Ruggie (2014) points out strategic elements that illustrate how the UN General Principles on Business and Human Rights came to serve as the basis for similar business principles for the OECD, ISO20000, the EU, the US Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform Act. In doing so the UN General Principles created some convergence of norms, policies and practices for business guidelines in the international arena. First, working towards a common understanding of the problem constitutes an initial step towards endorsing General Principles or a policy. Second, a polycentric approach in the development of the Principles helped to 'create thick stakeholder consensus' which was effective in securing compliance and maybe more so than the 'thin state consent' associated with international law (Pauwelyn et al., 2011).

Goal setting is a useful and increasingly practiced way of providing vision (see Kanie and Bierman, 2016). The Millennium Development Goals for poverty eradication, the Sustainable Development Goals for sustainable development and the Aichi targets for reducing

biodiversity loss can be a powerful and effective way to direct efforts in the intended direction.

Framing/reframing. In order to escape lock-ins, reframing of issues and decision-making situations is crucial to allow for new angles and a fresh perspective. For instance, it is usually argued that a lack of long term perspective is the reason for why environmental costs are perceived as externalities. Yet, despite increasing uncertainties, pension systems are widely accepted: people pay in for several decades before they receive returns (Benford and Snow, 2000). At the national level, governments have thus the possibility to enforce this type of long term thinking. Also, reframing at both niche and landscape levels can lead to mutual influence and 'higher level changes in social norms and values' (Upham, Kivimaa, Mickwitz and Åstrand, 2014).

According to (Benford and Snow, 2000), there are three core framing tasks:

- 1. Diagnostic framing: involves the problem identification and their attributions within the organisation itself.
- 2. Prognostic framing: involves the articulation of potential solutions to the problem and planning strategies to reach the desired solutions. At this stage, both consensus and action are enabled;
- 3. Motivational framing: involves the development of rational reasons for engaging in collective action and improving the action itself (Benford and Snow, 2000, pp. 614–617).

Further, the incorporation of various frames can help to overcome lock-ins: First, frame transcendence deals with the differences among frames by integrating the diverging poles into 'something that transcends the difference' (Dewulf and Bouwen, 2012). Second, frame connection is also referred to as interpenetration and follows a connection approach in which exploration of various ways to embrace different framingprovides new insights and gives equal voice to various oppositions or frames.

Orchestration. Both governments and intergovernmental agencies can take the role of orchestrators through intermediary organisations and soft modes of influence. Orchestration is a widely used governance strategy in the environmental domain and considered a valuable tool to enhance coherence and order in a context of polycentricism (Abbott et al., 2014a). According to (Abbott and Bernstein, 2014) orchestration is often practiced by governmental agencies such intergovernmental organisations, treaty bodies and supranational actors. In contrast to both mandatory and voluntary regulation, orchestration is an indirect mode of governance which works through intermediaries (Abbott et al., 2014b). An orchestrator does not have direct power of intermediary actors and depends on their voluntary collaboration. Therefore, successful orchestration depends on good leadership, persuasion and incentives.

In a context of very limited mandatory control and a tight financial budget, (Abbott and Bernstein, 2014) illustrate how the UN High Level Political Forum can perform the role of an orchestrator for the post-2015 agenda for sustainable development by combining 'state-based multilateralism with multi-actor governance arrangement' (Abbott and Bernstein, 2014, p. 2). In fact, the authors argue that states intentionally designed the HLPF as an orchestrating actor. However, the motivation for setting up orchestrating organisations is to have little material or sovereignty costs while not delegating strong authority (Abbott and Bernstein, 2014; Abbott et al., 2014a).

Orchestrators can establish platforms to facilitate interaction among partner organisations, networks, stakeholders and to diffuse good practices, support networking and opportunities to enlist (Abbott and Bernstein, 2014). Registries of actions taken, as the Sustainable

Development in Action Registry at the UN level, are crucial for effective support, monitoring, collaboration and steering (Abbott and Bernstein, 2014).

7 References

- Abbott KW. (2012). The transnational regime complex for climate change. Environment and Planning C: Government and Policy, 30(4), 571–590.
- Abbott KW and Bernstein S. (2014). The High-Level Political Forum on Sustainable Development: Orchestration by Default and Design. Available at SSRN 2443973.
- Abbott KW, Genschel P, Snidal D and Zangl B. (2014a). Orchestrating Global Governance: from Empirical Results to Theoretical Implications. In K. W. Abbott, P. Genschel, D. Snidal and B. Zangl (Eds.), International Organizations as Orchestrators. Cambridge University Press.
- Abbott KW, Genschel P, Snidal D and Zangl B. (2014b). Orchestration: Global Governance Through Intermediaries. In K. W. Abbott, P. Genschel, D. Snidal and B. Zangl (Eds.), International Organizations as Orchestrators. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Abbott KW and Snidal D. (2013). Taking responsive regulation transnational: Strategies for international organizations. [Article]. Regulation and Governance, 7(1), 95–113. doi: 10.1111/j.1748_5991.2012.01167.x
- Anderson J. (1975). Public Policy-Making. New York: Holt, Rinehart and Winston.
- Andonova LB, Betsill MM and Bulkeley H. (2009). Transnational climate governance. Global environmental politics, 9(2), 52–73.
- Ansell C and Gash A. (2008). Collaborative governance in theory and practice. Journal of public administration research and theory, 18(4), 543–571.
- Arnouts R and Arts B. (2012). Analysing governance modes and shifts governance arrangements in Dutch Nature Policy. Forest Policy and Economics 16: 43-50.
- Arts, B., and Leroy, P. (2006). Institutional Dynamics in Environmental Governance. Dordrecht Springer.
- Atkinson R, Chhetri N, Freed J, Galiana I, Green C, Hayward S, Jenkins J, Malone E, Nordhaus T, Pielke Jr. R, Prins G, Rayner S, Sarewitz D, Shellenberger M. (2011). Climate Pragmatism: Innovation, Resilience and No Regrets. In T. B. Institute (Ed.).
- Bäckstrand K. (2010). Environmental politics and deliberative democracy: Examining the promise of new modes of governance: Edward Elgar Publishing.
- Barrett S. (1999). Montreal versus Kyoto: International cooperation and the global environment. Global Public Goods: International Cooperation in the 21st Century, I. Kaul et al., (eds.), OUP, New York, NY.
- Benford RD and Snow DA. (2000). Framing processes and social movements: An overview and assessment. Annual review of sociology, 611–639.
- Berkes F. (2009). Evolution of co-management: Role of knowledge generation, bridging organizations and social learning. Journal of environmental management, 90(5), 1692–1702.
- Bernstein S. (2015). Liberal environmentalism and governance norms. Encyclopedia of Global Environmental Governance and Politics. P. Pattberg and F. Zelli (eds). Cheltenham, UK, Edward Elgar.
- Betsill MM and Bulkeley H. (2004). Transnational Networks and Global Environmental Governance: The Cities for Climate Protection Program. International Studies Quarterly, 48(2), 471–493. doi: 10.1111/j.0020-8833.2004.00310.x
- Biermann F. (2014). Earth system governance: world politics in the Anthropocene: MIT Press.
- Biermann F, Abbott KW, Andresen S, Bäckstrand K, Bernstein S, Betsill M, Bulkeley H, Cashore B, Clapp J, Folke C. (2012). Navigating the Anthropocene: Improving Earth System Governance. Science, 335(6074), 1306–1307.
- Biermann F and Pattberg P. (2008). Global environmental governance: Taking stock, moving forward. Annual Review of Environment and Resources, 33, 277–294.
- Biermann F, Pattberg P, Van Asselt H and Zelli F. (2009). The fragmentation of global governance architectures: A framework for analysis. Global environmental politics, 9(4), 14–40.
- Biermann F and Pattberg PH. (2012). Global environmental governance reconsidered: MIT Press.
- Bitzer VC. (2011). Partnering for change in chains: on the capacity of partnerships to promote sustainable change in global agricultural commodity chains.

- Börzel TA and Risse T. (2010). Governance without a state: Can it work? Regulation & Governance, 4(2), 113–134. doi: 10.1111/j.1748-5991.2010.01076.x
- Brinkerhoff JM. (2002). Government–nonprofit partnership: a defining framework. Public Administration and Development 22(1): 19–30.
- Broto VC and Bulkeley H. (2013). A Survey of Urban Climate Change Experiments in 100 Cities. Global Environmental Change, 23(1), 92–102.
- Brown HS, De Jong M and Levy DL. (2009). Building institutions based on information disclosure: lessons from GRI's sustainability reporting. Journal of Cleaner Production, 17(6), 571–580.
- Buchanan JM. (1965). An economic theory of clubs. Economica, 1-14.
- Bulkeley H, Andonova LB, Betsill MM, Compagnon D, Hale T, Hoffmann MJ, Newell P, Paterson M, Roger C, Van Deveer SD. (2014). Transnational Climate Change Governance. Cambridge Cambridge University Press.
- Bulkeley H and Jordan AJ. (2012). Transnational environmental governance: new findings and emerging research agendas. Environment and Planning C: Government and Policy, 30(4), 556–570.
- Bulkeley H and Mol AP. (2003). Participation and environmental governance: consensus, ambivalence and debate. Environmental Values, 12(2), 143–154.
- Cash DW. (2001). 'In order to aid in diffusing useful and practical information': Agricultural extension and boundary organizations. Science, Technology & Human Values, 26(4), 431–453.
- Cashore B. (2002). Legitimacy and the Privatization of Environmental Governance: How Non–State Market–Driven (NSMD) Governance Systems Gain Rule–Making Authority. Governance, 15(4), 503–529. doi: 10.1111/1468-0491.00199
- Chan S, Asselt H, Hale T, Abbott KW, Beisheim M, Hoffmann M, Guy B, Höhne N, Hsu A, Pattberg P. (2015). Reinvigorating International Climate Policy: A Comprehensive Framework for Effective Nonstate Action. Global Policy, 6(4), 466–473.
- Clapp J and Fuchs D. (2009). Agrifood corporations, global governance and sustainability: A framework for analysis. Corporate power in global agrifood governance, 1–26.
- Cole DH. (2015). Advantages of a polycentric approach to climate change policy. Nature Climate Change, 5(2), 114–118.
- Commission on Global Governance. (1995). Our global neighbourhood: the report: Oxford University Press.
- De la Porte C, Pochet P and Room BG. (2001). Social benchmarking, policy making and new governance in the EU. Journal of European Social Policy, 11(4), 291–307.
- Dellas E, Pattberg P, Berséus J, Frantzi S, Kok M, De Vos M, Janssen P, Biermann F, Petersen A. (2011). Modelling Governance and Institutions for Global Sustainability Politics (ModelGIGS): Theoretical Foundations and Conceptual Framework. Amsterdam Institute for Environmental Studies.
- Delmas MA and Young OR. (2009). Governance for the Environment. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Derkx B and Glasbergen P. (2014). Elaborating global private meta-governance: an inventory in the realm of voluntary sustainability standards. Global Environmental Change, 27, 41–50.
- Dewulf A and Bouwen R. (2012). Issue Framing in Conversations for Change: Discursive Interaction Strategies for' Doing Differences'. The Journal of Applied Behavioral Science, 0021886312438858.
- Dingwerth K and Pattberg, P. (2006). Global governance as a perspective on world politics. Global governance: a review of multilateralism and international organizations, 12(2), 185–203.
- Dingwerth K and Pattberg P. (2007). How Global and Why Governance? Ambivalences, Blind Spots, and Challenges for a Critical Global Governance Literature: mimeo.
- Dobson A. (2007). Green Political Thought: Routledge.
- Driessen PP, Dieperink C, Laerhoven F, Runhaar HA and Vermeulen WJ. (2012). Towards a conceptual framework for the study of shifts in modes of environmental governance–experiences from the Netherlands. Environmental policy and governance, 22(3), 143–160.
- Dryzek JS. (2000). Deliberative democracy and beyond: liberals, critics, contestations: Oxford University Press.
- Dryzek JS. (2009). Democratization as deliberative capacity building. Comparative Political Studies, 42(11), 1379–1402.
- Folke C, Hahn T, Olsson P and Norberg J. (2005). Adaptive governance of social-ecological systems. Annu. Rev. Environ. Resour., 30, 441–473.

- Forester J. (1999). The deliberative practitioner: Encouraging participatory planning processes: Mit Press.
- Fransen L and Conzelmann T. (2014). Fragmented or cohesive transnational private regulation of sustainability standards? A comparative study. Regulation & Governance.
- Fung A. (2006). Varieties of participation in complex governance. Public administration review, 66(s1), 66–75.
- Galaz V, Crona B, Österblom H, Olsson P and Folke C. (2012). Polycentric systems and interacting planetary boundaries Emerging governance of climate change-ocean acidification-marine biodiversity. Ecological Economics, 81(0), 21–32. doi: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolecon.2011.11.012
- German Advisory Council on Global Change. (2014). Climate Protection as a World Citizen Movement. In German Advisory Council on Global Change (Ed.), Special Report. Berlin.
- Glasbergen P. (2013). Legitimation of certifying partnerships in the global market place. Environmental policy and governance, 23(6), 354–367.
- Glin LC, Mol APJ, Oosterveer P and Vodouhê SD. (2012). Governing the transnational organic cotton network from Benin. [Article]. Global Networks, 12(3), 333–354. doi: 10.1111/j.1471-0374.2011.00340.x
- Green JF. (2013). Rethinking private authority: Agents and entrepreneurs in global environmental governance: Princeton University Press.
- Green JF, Sterner T and Wagner G. (2014). A balance of bottom-up and top-down in linking climate policies. [Perspective]. Nature Clim. Change, 4(12), 1064–1067. doi: 10.1038/nclimate2429
- Gupta J, Termeer C, Klostermann J, Meijerink S, Van den Brink M, Jong P, Nooteboom S, Bergsma E. (2010). The Adaptive Capacity Wheel: a method to assess the inherent characteristics of institutions to enable the adaptive capacity of society. Environmental Science & Policy, 13(6), 459–471. doi: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.envsci.2010.05.006
- Guston DH. (2001). Boundary organizations in environmental policy and science: an introduction. Science, technology, and human values, 399–408.
- Habermas J. (1984). The theory of communicative action: Reason and the rationalization of society (T. McCarthy, Trans. Vol. 1). Boston: Beacon.
- Hajer M. (1995). The politics of environmental discourse: ecological modernization and the policy process: Clarendon Press Oxford.
- Hajer M. (2011). The Energetic Society In Search of a Governance Philosophy for a Clean Economy. PBL Netherlands Environmental Assessment Agency, The Hague.
- Hajer M, Nilsson M, Raworth K, Bakker P, Berkhout F, De Boer Y, Rockström J, Ludwig K, Kok M. (2015). Beyond Cockpit-ism: Four Insights to Enhance the Transformative Potential of the Sustainable Development Goals. Sustainability, 7(2), 1651–1660.
- Hajer M and Wagenaar H. (2003). Deliberative policy analysis: understanding governance in the network society: Cambridge University Press.
- Hale T, Held D and Young K. (2013). Gridlock: why global cooperation is failing when we need it most: Polity.
- Hall RB and Biersteker TJ. (2002). The emergence of private authority in global governance (Vol. 85): Cambridge University Press.
- Harrison N. (2014). Enhancing Ambition through International Cooperative Initiatives: Nordic Council of Ministers.
- Héritier A. (2002). New modes of governance in Europe: policy-making without legislating. Common goods: Reinventing European and international governance, 185–206.
- Hoffmann MJ. (2011). Climate Governance at the Crossroads: Experimenting with a Global Response after Kyoto. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Hooghe L and Marks G. (2003). Unraveling the Central State, But How?: Types of Multi-level Governance (Vol. 97): Cambridge Univ Press.
- Hysing E. (2009). Governing without government? The private governance of forest certification in Sweden. Public Administration, 87(2), 312–326.
- Jagers SC and Stripple J. (2003). Climate Govenance beyond the State. Global Governance, 9, 385.
- Jessop B. (1998). The rise of governance and the risks of failure: the case of economic development. International social science journal, 50(155), 29–45.
- Jones C. (1970). An Introduction to the Study of Public Policy. Belmont, CA: Wadsworth.
- Jordan AJ, Huitema D, Hilden M, Van Asselt H, Rayner TJ, Schoenefeld J, Boasson EL. (2015). Emergence of polycentric climate governance and its future prospects. [Perspective]. Nature Clim. Change, advance online publication. doi:
 - 10.1038/nclimate2725

- Jowett A and Dyer C. (2012). Scaling-up successfully: Pathways to replication for educational NGOs. International Journal of Educational Development, 32(6), 733–742. doi: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ijedudev.2011.12.002
- Keck ME and Sikkink K. (1998). Activists beyond borders: Advocacy networks in international politics (Vol. 35): Cambridge Univ Press.
- Keohane RO and Victor DG. (2011). The regime complex for climate change. Perspectives on politics, 9(01), 7-23.
- Kern K and Bulkeley H. (2009). Cities, Europeanization and Multi-level Governance: Governing Climate Change through Transnational Municipal Networks*. JCMS: Journal of Common Market Studies, 47(2), 309–332.
- Kjaer AM. (2004). Governance. Cambridge: Polity.
- Koppenjan J and Klijn E-H. (2004). Managing uncertainties in networks: Public private controversies: Routledge.
- Lach D, Ingram H and Rayner S. (2006). You never miss the water till the well runs dry: crisis and creativity in California. Clumsy Solutions for a Complex World, 226–240.
- Lave J and Wenger E. (1991). Situated learning: Legitimate peripheral participation: Cambridge university press.
- Levin K, Cashore B, Bernstein S and Auld G. (2012). Overcoming the tragedy of super wicked problems: constraining our future selves to ameliorate global climate change. Policy Sciences, 45(2), 123–152.
- Linnerooth-Bayer J, Vari A and Thompson M. (2006). Floods and fairness in Hungary. Clumsy solutions for a complex world: Governance, politics and plural perceptions, 181–204.
- Lipschutz RD and Mayer J. (1996). Global civil society and global environmental governance: The politics of nature from place to planet: SUNY Press.
- Mahanty S. (2002). Conservation and development interventions as networks: the case of the India Ecodevelopment Project, Karnataka. World Development, 30(8), 1369–1386.
- Mayntz R and Scharpf FW. (1995). Steuerung und Selbstorganisation in staatsnahen Sektoren Gesellschaftliche Selbstregelung und politische Steuerung (pp. 9–38): Campus Verlag.
- Mitchell RB. (2011). Transparency for governance: The mechanisms and effectiveness of disclosure-based and education-based transparency policies. Ecological Economics, 70(11), 1882–1890. doi: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolecon.2011.03.006
- Mol AP. (2006). Environmental governance in the Information Age: the emergence of informational governance. Environment and Planning C, 24(4), 497.
- Mol AP. (2008). Environmental reform in the information age. The Contours of Informational Governance Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.
- Mol AP. (2010). The future of transparency: Power, pitfalls and promises. Global environmental politics, 10(3), 132–143.
- Newell P. (2000). Climate for Change: Cambridge University Press.
- Newell P et al. (2012). Multi-actor governance and the environment. Annual Review of Environment and Resources 37(1): 365.
- Newig J and Fritsch O. (2009). Environmental governance: participatory, multi-level-and effective? Environmental policy and governance, 19(3), 197–214.
- Olson M. (1965). The Logic of Collective Action: Public Goods and the Theory of Groups. Harvard: Harvard University Press.
- Olsson P, Folke C, Galaz V, Hahn T and Schultz L. (2007). Enhancing the fit through adaptive co-management: creating and maintaining bridging functions for matching scales in the Kristianstads Vattenrike Biosphere Reserve Sweden. Ecology and Society, 12(1), 28.
- Van Oorschot M et al. (2014). Sustainability of international Dutch supply chains: Progress, effects and perspectives. PBL Netherlands Environmental Assessment Agency, The Hague.
- Van Oorschot M et al. (2018). Transparantie verplicht: doel of middel? Verwachtingen over transparantie en de rol van financiële organisaties om maatschappelijk verantwoord ondernemen te stimuleren. PBL Netherlands Environmental Assessment Agency, The Hague.
- Ostrom E. (2010a). Beyond markets and states: polycentric governance of complex economic systems. The American economic review, 100(3), 641–672.
- Ostrom E. (2010b). Polycentric systems for coping with collective action and global environmental change. Global Environmental Change, 20(4), 550–557. doi: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.gloenvcha.2010.07.004
- Ostrom V, Tiebout CM and Warren R. (1961). The organization of government in metropolitan areas: a theoretical inquiry. The American Political Science Review, 831–842.

- Overbeek H, Dingwerth K, Pattberg P and Compagnon D. (2010). Forum: Global Governance: Decline or Maturation of an Academic Concept? International Studies Review, 12(4), 696–719.
- Pattberg P. (2005). The institutionalization of private governance: how business and nonprofit organizations agree on transnational rules. Governance, 18(4), 589–610.
- Pattberg P. (2006). Global Governance: reconstructing a contested social science concept. GARNET Working Paper No. 04.
- Pattberg P and Isailovic M. (2015). Private environmental governance. Encyclopedia of Global Environmental Governance and Politics. P. H. Pattberg and F. Zelli (eds). Cheltenham, UK, Edward elgar: 281–289.
- Philipp T, Benz A, Lütz S, Schimank U and Simonis G. (2007). Handbuch Governance: Theoretische Grundlagen und empirische Anwendungsfelder: JSTOR.
- Poteete AR, Janssen MA and Ostrom E. (2010). Working together: collective action, the commons, and multiple methods in practice: Princeton University Press.
- Provan KG and Kenis P. (2008). Modes of network governance: Structure, management, and effectiveness. Journal of public administration research and theory, 18(2), 229–252.
- Rayner S. (2010). How to eat an elephant: a bottom-up approach to climate policy. Climate Policy, 10(6), 615–621.
- Risse-Kappen T. (1995). Bringing transnational relations back in: Non-state actors, domestic structures and international institutions (Vol. 42): Cambridge University Press.
- Risse T. (2004). Global governance and communicative action. Government and opposition, 39(2), 288–313.
- Risse T. (2013). Governance without a state?: policies and politics in areas of limited statehood: Columbia University Press.
- Rittberger V and Zürn M. (1991). Regime Theory: Findings from the Study of' East-West Regimes'. Cooperation and Conflict, 26(4), 165–183.
- Roe M. (2013). Maritime Governance and Policy-making: The Need for Process Rather than form. The Asian Journal of Shipping and Logistics, 29(2), 167–186.
- Rosenau JN. (1995). Governance in the twenty-first century. Global Governance, 13-43.
- Rosenau JN. (1999). Toward an ontology for global governance. Albany, NY: State University of New York Press.
- Rosenau JN and Czempiel E-O. (1992). Governance without Government: Order and Change in World Politics (Vol. 20). Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Ruggie JG. (2014). Global Governance and 'New Governance Theory': Lessons from Business and Human Rights. Global Governance, 20(1), 5–17.
- Sabel C, Fung A and Karkkainen B. (2000). Beyond Backyard Environmentalist!! Boston: Beacon Press.
- Schäferhoff M et al. (2009). Transnational Public-Private Partnerships in International Relations: Making Sense of Concepts, Research Frameworks, and Results. International Studies Review 11(3): 451–474.
- Shapiro MH. (1987). Introduction: judicial selection and the design of clumsy institutions. S. Cal. L. Rev., 61, 1555.
- Van der Steen M, Scherpenisse J, Hajer M, Van Gerwen OJ and Kruitwagen S. (2014). Leren door doen Overheidsparticipatie in een energieke samenleving. NSOB and PBL Netherlands Environmental Assessment Agency, The Hague.
- Termeer C, Dewulf A and Van Lieshout M. (2010). Disentangling scale approaches in governance research: comparing monocentric, multilevel, and adaptive governance. Ecology and Society, 15(4), 29.
- Thompson M and Verweij M. (2006). Clumsy Solutions for a Complex World: Governance, Politics and Plural Perceptions: Palgrave, UK.
- Toonen HM. (2013). Sea@ shore: informational governance in marine spatial conflicts at the North Sea. Wageningen University.
- Treib O, Bähr H and Falkner G. (2007). Modes of governance: towards a conceptual clarification. Journal of European Public Policy, 14(1), 1–20.
- Turner BL, Kasperson RE, Meyer WB, Dow KM, Golding D, Kasperson JX, Ratick SJ. (1990). Two Types of Global Environmental Change: Definitional and Spatial-scale Issues in Their Human Dimensions. Global Environmental Change, 1(1), 14–22.
- Underdal A. (2002). One Question, Two Answers. In Miles. E. T., A. Underdal, J. B. Skjaerseth and E. M. Carlin (Eds.), Environmental regime effectiveness: Confronting theory with evidence (pp. 3–45). Cambridge: MIT Press.
- Underdal A. (2010). Complexity and challenges of long-term environmental governance. Global Environmental Change, 20(3), 386–393. doi: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.gloenvcha.2010.02.005

- United Nations Environment Programme (2012). Global Environment Outlook 5. Malta: Progress Press Ltd.
- Upham P, Kivimaa P, Mickwitz P and Åstrand K. (2014). Climate policy innovation: a sociotechnical transitions perspective. Environmental Politics, 23(5), 774–794. doi: 10.1080/09644016.2014.923632
- Van Tulder R. (2011). The Collaborative Paradigm: Dealing with the Increasing Role of Partnerships in Sustainable Development Working Paper Series. Rotterdam: The Partnerships Resource Centre (PrC).
- Van Zeijl-Rozema A, Cörvers R, Kemp R and Martens P. (2008). Governance for sustainable development: a framework. Sustainable Development, 16(6), 410–421.
- Verweij M, Douglas M, Ellis R, Engel C, Hendriks F, Lohmann S, Thompson M. (2006a). The Case for Clumsiness. In Marco Verweij and M. Thompson (Eds.), Clumsy solutions for a complex world: Governance, politics and plural perceptions (pp. 1–30). Basingstoke: Palgrave Macmillan.
- Waarden F. (1992). Dimensions and types of policy networks. European journal of political research, 21(1-2), 29-52.
- Widerberg O and Stenson DE. (2013). Climate clubs and the UNFCCC. FORES Study, 3, 1–52.
- Wilson DC, Ahmed M, Siar SV and Kanagaratnam U. (2006). Cross-scale linkages and adaptive management: fisheries co-management in Asia. Marine Policy, 30(5), 523–533.
- Young OR. (1994). International Governance: Protecting the Environment in a Stateless Society. Ithaca, NY: Cornell University Press.
- Zacher MW. (1992). The Decaying Pillars of the Westphalian Temple: Implications for International Order and Governance. In J. N. Rosenau and E. O. Czempiel (Eds.), Governance without Government: Order and Change in World Politics. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.